Committee of the Parties



Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (Istanbul Convention)

Report of the 6th meeting

Strasbourg, 25 January 2019

IC-CP/Inf(2019)RAP6

Published on 8 February 2019

Table of contents

Agenda item 1.	Opening of the meeting and adoption of the agenda	3
Agenda item 2.	Administrative and Budgetary Information	3
Agenda item 3.	State of signatures and ratifications of the Istanbul Convention	3
Agenda item 4.	Recommendations on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention by:	4
Agenda item 5.	Exchange of views with the President of the Group of Experts on Action against	
Violence against	Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO)	5
Agenda item 6.	Information on the procedure for the election of five new GREVIO members	6
Agenda item 7.	Opinion on the draft resolution on the financial modalities concerning the	
participation of no	on-state parties to the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating	
violence against v	women and domestic violence [IC-CP(2019)5]	6
Agenda item 8.	Informal discussion on trends challenges and good practice at the level of States	
Parties [IC-CP(2019)6]6		
Agenda item 9.	Information on co-operation activities of the Council of Europe of interest to the	
Committee of the Parties6		
Agenda item 10.	Election of Bureau members	.7
Agenda item 11.	Date of next meeting	.7
Agenda item 12.	Other business	.7
Agenda item 13.	Adoption of the list of decisions taken	7
Appendix I Agen	da	8
Appendix II List o	of attendees	9

Agenda item 1. Opening of the meeting and adoption of the agenda

1. The Committee of the Parties to the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence (hereinafter referred to respectively as "the Committee" and "the Convention") held its 6th meeting in Strasbourg on 25 January 2019.

- 2. The meeting was opened by the Chair of the Committee Ambassador Elisabeth Walaas.
- 3. The members of the Committee were invited to adopt the draft agenda of the meeting. The Committee adopted the draft agenda as it appears in document IC-CP(2019)OJ6prov. The agenda, as adopted by the Committee, is set out in Appendix I. The list of attendees is set out in Appendix II.

Agenda item 2. Administrative and Budgetary Information

- 4. The Chair introduced the new Executive Secretary of the monitoring mechanisms of the Convention Ms Liri Kopaçi-Di Michele and invited her to provide information regarding the administrative and budgetary situation. The Executive Secretary informed the Committee that all activities are taking place as foreseen under the biannual programme and budget (2018-2019). Preparations for the new biannual programme and budget (2020-2021) are underway. Proposals will take into account the developments with regard to ratifications of the Istanbul Convention and the need to ensure the effective functioning of the monitoring processes, monitoring bodies and other relevant activities.
- 5. The delegation of Belgium informed the Committee that the government has earmarked 23.000€ to support the activities of GREVIO. The Chair thanked the Belgian authorities and encouraged parties to consider making voluntary contributions to the Council of Europe and particularly to the cause of the Istanbul Convention with a view to ensuring the effective functioning of GREVIO.

Agenda item 3. State of signatures and ratifications of the Istanbul Convention

- 6. The Chair gave the floor to the Executive Secretary to provide information on the state of signatures and ratifications. The Executive Secretary drew attention to the state of signatures and ratifications of the Convention as it appears in the website of the Treaty Office: https://www.coe.int/en/web/conventions/full-list/-/conventions/treaty/210/signatures. Five state parties ratified the Convention in 2018: Croatia, Greece, Iceland, Luxembourg and the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia.
 - Action taken by member States of the Council of Europe towards ratification of the Istanbul Convention
- 7. Representatives of member states reported on the latest developments regarding promotion, ratification and implementation of the Convention. A parliamentary debate on the ratification of the Convention by **Lithuania** is hoped to take place in June 2019. **France** informed the committee that promotion of gender equality and ending violence against women, including the launch of a campaign aimed at securing the universal adoption of the Council of Europe Istanbul Convention, will be among the priorities of the French Presidency of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe and the G7. In view of GREVIO's evaluation visit, **Belgium** is preparing the state report on the implementation of the Convention. **Albania** highlighted the importance of regional gatherings such as the "Regional forum taking stock of the implementation of the Istanbul Convention in the Western Balkans and Turkey" (Skopje, 27 and 28 November 2018). They provide working and networking opportunities to exchange on progress and challenges with the implementation of the Convention. In preparation for the GREVIO evaluation visit, **Spain** is working on the finalisation of the state report. The Spanish delegate pointed out that the preparation of the

state report is both an ambitious but also an interesting learning process as it enables a detailed analysis of the situation, progress made and what remains to be done. **Serbia** will receive GREVIO in March 2019. The process leading to the preparation of the state report involved several meetings with all relevant stakeholders: state authorities, parliamentarians, academia and NGOs. **Italy** will

receive GREVIO in March 2019. The Italian delegate informed the Committee about action taken by

the Italian authorities with regard to the implementation of the Convention.

b. Action taken by the European Union towards signature and ratification of the Istanbul Convention

- 8. The representative from **Austria** informed the Committee that promotion of the Istanbul Convention had been among the priorities of the Austrian Presidency of the European Union but despite efforts and progress, there was no decision with regard to the ratification of the Convention by the EU. The representative from **Romania** informed the Committee that the Romanian Presidency will support the promotion of the Convention at EU level including during numerous events on gender equality and women's rights promoted by the Presidency.
 - c. Declarations and reservations
- 9. The Chair recalled that the Treaty Office has issued letters asking those member states that ratified the Convention in 2014 and made a reservation at that time, whether they want to renew them. The Chair encouraged state parties' representatives that have made declarations or reservations at the moment of ratifying the Convention to lift them and apply the Convention in full.

Agenda item 4. Recommendations on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention by:

- Montenegro [IC-CP(2019)1 prov]
- Portugal [IC-CP(2019)3 prov]
- **Sweden** [IC-CP(2019)4 prov]
- Turkey [IC-CP(2019)2 prov]
- 10. The Chair recalled the discussions held during the 4th meeting of the Committee of the Parties which took place in Strasbourg on 30 January 2018 on the adoption of Recommendations by the Committee of the Parties in light of GREVIO's reports and proposals/suggestions (IC-CP(2018)6). During that meeting, the Committee agreed to adopt a standard approach to recommendations in light of GREVIO's reports and proposals/suggestions, namely:
 - a) to endorse GREVIO's report in its entirety and,
 - b) to issue recommendations combined with a request to the state party concerned to report back after a period of three years with respect to those proposals/suggestions in the report which are either qualified by an "urge" or, as regards Chapters I and II, by a "strongly encourage".
- 11. In the exchange that ensued, the delegate from **Montenegro** welcomed the publication of the GREVIO report and informed the Committee that ratification of the Convention has resulted in the adoption of numerous laws and regulations to ensure compliance with the Convention. Further progress and changes are expected as a result of the implementation of the Committee's recommendations. The delegate from **Portugal** highlighted the importance of the process leading up to the preparation of the state report in regard of the evaluation of the implementation of the Istanbul Convention. The process included several government structures and ministries, representatives of NGOs and other civil society representatives, media (including social media debates) etc. Portugal welcomed the Committee's recommendations on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention and will ensure periodical evaluation of progress with their implementation. The Portuguese delegate pointed out excellent coverage of the GREVIO evaluation report by national media, including mainstream media. The delegate from **Sweden** welcomed the publication of the GREVIO report and drew attention to the positive impact of the state report with regard to co-operation and co-ordination among the state authorities, civil society representatives and other relevant institutions. The

0.7111(25.10)1.4.4.5

Committee recommendations on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention in regard of Sweden will be translated and widely disseminated among all relevant stakeholders. Sweden looks forward to cooperation with the Council of Europe to ensure their full implementation. The delegate from **Turkey** welcomed co-operation with GREVIO, the country rapporteurs and the Secretariat in the process of preparing and implementing the evaluation visit and all the way to the finalisation of the evaluation report on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention by Turkey. Authorities have identified five priority areas for action: legislation, awareness raising and changing mentalities, prevention, measures in the area of health and co-ordination. These priority areas of action are framed in the Gender Equality Women's Empowerment Strategy (2018-2023). The authorities look forward to close cooperation with the Committee of the Parties and GREVIO to ensure full implementation of the Convention.

12. The Committee adopted the draft recommendations for Montenegro, Portugal, Sweden and Turkey, based on the standard approach agreed during the 4th meeting of the Committee of the Parties which took place in Strasbourg on 30 January 2018 on the adoption of Recommendations by the Committee of the Parties in light of GREVIO's reports and proposals/suggestions (IC-CP(2018)6).

Agenda item 5. Exchange of views with the President of the Group of Experts on Action against Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO)

- 13. The Chair recalled that based on the rules of procedure, the Committee regularly meets with the President of GREVIO to hear about the state of the work of GREVIO and progress in preparing its reports and conclusions concerning the measures taken by the Parties to implement the provisions of the Convention, as well as any other issue relating to the functioning of the monitoring mechanism of the Convention. In this context, she welcomed the President of GREVIO Professor Feride Acar on behalf of the Committee.
- 14. In her intervention, the President of GREVIO focused on progress with the signature, ratification and implementation of the Convention; the work of GREVIO including the preparation and publication of evaluation reports; drew attention to the backlash against women's rights and the Convention; reported on co-operation and synergies with other regional and international mechanisms and concluded with the importance of the election of the 10 new members of the GREVIO by the Committee. In regard to the latter, she drew attention to the importance of ensuring continuity in the work and functioning of GREVIO.
- In the exchange that ensued, several representatives (Albania, Belgium, France, Finland, 15. Malta, Montenegro, Portugal, Romania, Serbia, Slovenia, Sweden and Turkey) took the floor to thank GREVIO and the President for the excellent work. They highlighted in particular the preparation of the evaluation visits and the baseline evaluation reports which are done through a "transparent, cooperative and constructive dialogue between GREVIO and the Parties to the Convention". GREVIO's approach to the evaluation process was described as "aiming to deliver knowledge and expertise, based on mutual goodwill and the wish to see countries progress in their efforts to eradicate gender based violence". Parties do not see GREVIO baseline evaluation reports as sanctions but rather as constructive and useful feedback to address gaps in legislation and policies and ensure implementation of the Convention including through co-operation and exchange of experience among the Parties. Speakers stressed the importance of providing GREVIO with the necessary budgetary and staff resources to ensure it continues to carry out its work and activities effectively. Speakers also drew attention to the "monitoring fatigue" and the importance of coordination with other regional and international mechanisms to avoid they undergo monitoring or evaluation at the same time. This is in particular important as regards monitoring under UN CEDAW and reporting on Beijing +25.

Agenda item 6. Information on the procedure for the election of five new GREVIO members

16. The Chair informed the Committee that, in accordance with Rule 9 of the Committee of Ministers Resolution [Res(2014)43 on rules on the election procedure of the members of the Group of Experts on Action against Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO)], a letter requesting nominations for GREVIO candidatures had been sent to those state parties which do not yet have a national serving as an independent expert in GREVIO and to those ten state parties who have a national serving expert whose mandate is about to expire¹ on 31 May 2019. A total of 28 state Parties were thus eligible to nominate candidates. The deadline for the submission of candidates is 1 February 2019.

- 17. The Chair drew attention to the importance of ensuring a balanced representation in terms of gender, geography and professional expertise.
- 18. Lastly, she informed the Committee that the elections to fill the ten seats on GREVIO will take place at the 7th meeting of the Committee of the Parties, scheduled to take place in April 2019 with a view to the newly elected GREVIO members taking up office as of 1 June 2019.

Agenda item 7. Opinion on the draft resolution on the financial modalities concerning the participation of non-state parties to the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence [IC-CP(2019)5].

19. The Chair recalled that the Istanbul Convention is open to the signature and ratification by Canada, the Holy See, Japan, Mexico, the United States of America, as well as the EU, while it is open to accession to any other non-member state based on an invitation from the Committee of Ministers. She further recalled that the participation of a non-member State or of the European Union to the Convention would entail costs for the Organisation, in particular in relation to the follow-up mechanism of the Convention which is covered by the Organisation's budget. In view of the need to introduce a mechanism for covering such costs, the Organisation's relevant services had prepared a draft resolution concerning financial arrangements for participation of non-member States in the Council of Europe Istanbul Convention for adoption by the Committee of Ministers. The Committee took note of the draft resolution as presented by the Secretariat and expressed its favourable opinion in this regard.

Agenda item 8. Informal discussion on trends challenges and good practice at the level of States Parties [IC-CP(2019)6].

20. Following informal discussions on this item, the Committee agreed on two thematic areas for discussion at its next meeting: 1) **Custody and Divorce** (presentation by Belgium) and 2) **Comprehensive and Co-ordinated policies** (presentation by Netherlands, Norway, Portugal and Spain).

Agenda item 9. Information on co-operation activities of the Council of Europe of interest to the Committee of the Parties

21. The Committee took note of the information provided by the Secretariat on the recently launched project in the Russian Federation "Co-operation on the implementation of the Russian Federation National Action Strategy for Women (2017–2022)". The project focuses on developing knowledge and skills in two areas of the Russian National Action Strategy (NASW): 1) prevention of social disadvantage of women and violence against women and 2) women participation in public and political life.

-

¹ The current 10 members whose mandate expires on 31 May 2019 are eligible for re-election for another mandate.

Agenda item 10. Election of Bureau members

- 22. In accordance with Rule 4 of its Rules of Procedure, the Committee re-elected
 - Ms Elisabeth WALAAS, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary, Permanent Representative of Norway to the Council of Europe, as Chair;
 - Mr Gilles HEYVAERT, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary, Permanent Representative of Belgium to the Council of Europe, as First Vice-Chair; and
 - Mr João Maria CABRAL, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary, Permanent Representative of Portugal to the Council of Europe, as Second Vice-Chair;

for a term of office of one year starting on 31 January 2019.

Agenda item 11. Date of next meeting

23. The Committee decided to hold its next meeting on 1 – 2 April 2019 in Strasbourg.

Agenda item 12. Other business

24. The Committee took note of information by the Belgium delegation on the work developed by the International Labour Organization (ILO) towards an international standard on violence and harassment against women and men in the world of work and noted their encouragement to support the adoption of such a convention.

Agenda item 13. Adoption of the list of decisions taken

25. The Committee adopted the list of decisions as set out in document IC-CP/Inf(2019)LD6.

Appendix I

Agenda

- 1. Opening of the meeting and adoption of the agenda
- 2. Administrative and Budgetary Information
- 3. State of signatures and ratifications of the Istanbul Convention
 - d. Action taken by member States of the Council of Europe towards ratification of the Istanbul Convention
 - e. Action taken by the European Union towards signature and ratification of the Istanbul Convention
 - f. Declarations and reservations
- 4. Recommendations on the implementation of the Istanbul Convention by :
 - Montenegro [IC-CP(2019)1 prov]
 - Portugal [IC-CP(2019)3 prov]
 - Sweden [IC-CP(2019)4 prov]
 - Turkey [IC-CP(2019)2 prov]
- 5. Exchange of views with the President of the Group of Experts on Action against Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO)
- 6. Information on the procedure for the election of ten new GREVIO members
- 7. Opinion on the draft resolution on the financial modalities concerning the participation of non-state parties to the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence [IC-CP(2019)5].
- 8. Informal discussion on trends challenges and good practice at the level of States Parties [IC-CP(2019)6].
- 9. Information on co-operation activities of the Council of Europe of interest to the Committee of the Parties
- 10. Election of Bureau members [Rules of procedure].
- 11. Date of next meeting
- 12. Other business
- 13. Adoption of the list of decisions taken

Appendix II

List of attendees

Ms Elisabeth WALAAS Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative of Norway to the Council of Europe

M. Gilles HEYVAERT Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent de la Belgique auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

M. João Maria CABRAL Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent du Portugal auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

MEMBERS / MEMBRES

ALBANIA / ALBANIE

Ms Merita Xhafaj General Director for Development Policies Ministry of Health and Social Protection

ANDORRA / ANDORRE

M. Josep ARENY ACHE Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent de l'Andorre auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

AUSTRIA / AUTRICHE

Mr Andreas BILGERI
Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Austria to the Council of Europe

BELGIUM / BELGIQUE

Ms Marijke WEEWAUTERS Institut pour l'Egalité des femmes et des hommes

Ms Deborah KUPPERBERG Ministère de la Communauté française de Belgique Direction de l'Egalité des Chances

BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA / BOSNIE-HERZEGOVINE

Ms Dragana KREMENOVIC-KUSMUK Chargé d'Affaires a.i. Deputy Permanent Representative of Bosnia and Herzegovina to the Council of Europe

CROATIA / CROATIE

Ms Sandra BATLAK Advisor to the Minister at the Ministry for Demography Family, Youth and Social Affairs of the Republic of Croatia

Ms Irena SARTA
Official at the Sector for International Cooperation
Service for Coordination of International and EU Affairs
Ministry for Demography, Family, Youth and Social Affairs of Croatia

CYPRUS / CHYPRE

M. Michael KARAGIORGIS Représentant Permanent Adjoint de Chypre auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

DENMARK / DANEMARK

Mr Arnold DE FINE SKIBSTED Ambassador Permanent Representative of Denmark to the Council of Europe

ESTONIA

Ms Kerli TIIK

Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Estonia to the Council of Europe

FINLAND / FINLANDE

Ms Karin FLARUP
Deputy to the Permanent Representative
Permanent Representation of Sweden to the Council of Europe

FRANCE

M. Alexis RINCKENBACH Chef du bureau des affaires européennes et internationales Direction générale de la cohésion sociale Ministère des affaires sociales et de la santé

GEORGIA / GÉORGIE

Ms. Maka PERADZE Deputy Director of Department of Human Rights Protection Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia

GERMANY / ALLEMAGNE

Ms Nele REICH
Division 403 – Protection of Women from Violence
Federal Ministry for Family Affairs,
Senior Citizens, Women and Youth

GREECE / GRÈCE

Mme Charikleia PERRI Adjointe au Représentant Permanent de la Grèce auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

ICELAND / ISLANDE

Ms Svala Ísfeld ÓLAFSDOTTIR Ministry of Justice

ITALY / ITALIE

Ms Annaclaudia SERVILLO Director Department for Equal Opportunities of the Italian Presidency of the Council of Ministers

Ms Paola Bianchi

Department for Equal Opportunities of the Italian Presidency of the Council of Ministers

MALTA / MALTE

Renee LAIVIERA | Commissioner National Commission for the Promotion of Equality

MONACO

M. Rémi MORTIER Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent de Monaco auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Véronique SEGUI-CHARLOT Directrice de l'Action et de l'Aide Sociales Gouvernement Princier Principauté de Monaco

MONTENEGRO

Mr Goran KUSEVIJA
Director General
Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare of Montenegro
Ms Bozidarka Krunic,
Permanent Representative of Montenegro
to the Council of Europe

Ms Ana Radusinovic, Deputy to PR Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Montenegro to the Council of Europe

NETHERLANDS

Ms Aafje TIEMS Co-ordinator, Violence in dependency relationships Ministry of Health Welfare and Sport, Social Support Department

NORWAY / NORVEGE

Ms. Hilde Marit KNOTTEN
Senior advisor
Ministry of Justice and Public Security
Police Department

POLAND / POLOGNE

Mr Janusz STAŃCZYK Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative of Poland to the Council of Europe

Ms Bogumiła WARCHALEWSKA Deputy to the Permanent Representative Permanent Representation of Poland to the Council of Europe

PORTUGAL

Sara MOREIRA Domestic and Gender based Violence Unit Commission for Citizenship and Gender Equality Presidency of the Council of Ministers

ROMANIA / ROUMANIE

Ms Inginur RUSTEM
Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Romania to the Council of Europe

SAN MARINO / SAINT-MARIN

Ms Sylvie BOLLINI Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentante Permanente du Saint-Marin auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

SERBIA / SERBIE

Ms Ljiljana LONCAR Adviser to the Deputy Prime Minister for Gender Equality

SLOVENIA / SLOVENIE

Ms Sara SLANA

Ministry of Labour, Family, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities of the Republic of Slovenia

SPAIN / ESPAGNE

Ms Pilar VILAPLANA Senior Advisor to Government Delegate for Gender-based Violence MINISTRY OF THE PRESIDENCY, RELATIONS WITH PARLIAMENT AND EQUALITY

SWEDEN / SUÈDE

Karin FLARUP
Deputy to the Permanent Representative
Permanent Representation of Sweden to the Council of Europe

SWITZERLAND / SUISSE

Mme Anna Begemann Adjointe au Représentant permanent de la Suisse auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

"THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA" / « L'EX-RÉPUBLIQUE YOUGOSLAVE DE MACÉDOINE »

Absent

TURKEY / TURQUIE

Ms Muzaffer Uyav GÜLTEKİN
Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Turkey to the Council of Europe

PARTICIPANTS

STATES WHICH HAVE SIGNED BUT NOT YET RATIFIED THE CONVENTION / ÉTATS QUI ONT SIGNÉ LA CONVENTION MAIS QUI NE L'ONT PAS ENCORE RATIFIÉE

CZECH REPUBLIC

Mr Ondřej ABRHAM Deputy Permanent Representative of the Czech Republic to the Council of Europe

LIECHTENSTEIN

Excused/Excusé

SLOVAK REPUBLIC

Ms Marcela HANUSOVÁ
Deputy Permanent Representative of Slovakia to the Council of Europe

OTHER COUNCIL OF EUROPE BODIES / AUTRES INSTANCES DU CONSEIL DE l'EUROPE

Congress of Local and regional Authorities

Ms Muriel GRIMMEISSEN

Office of the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights / Bureau du Commissaire aux droits de l'homme du Conseil de l'Europe

Ms Claudia Lam

Conference of the INGOs of the Council of Europe / Conférence des OING du Conseil de l'Europe

Ms Anne Negre

European Court of Human Rights

Ms Sevim Sönmez Lawyer Registry of the European Court of Human Rights

PACE

Ms Béatrice Fresko-Rolfo (Monaco, ALDE) PACE General Rapporteur on violence against women

Ms Sonia Sirtori
Head of the Secretariat
Committee on Equality and Non-Discrimination
Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe

......

INVITEES / INVITÉS

Ms Feride ACAR

President of the Group of Experts against Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO)

SECRETARIAT / SECRÉTARIAT

Secretariat of the monitoring mechanism of the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence / Secrétariat du mécanisme de suivi de la Convention du Conseil de l'Europe sur la prévention et la lutte contre la violence à l'égard des femmes et la violence domestique

Ms Liri Kopaçi-DI Michele Executive Secretary / Secrétaire exécutive Head of the Violence against Women Division / Cheffe de la Division Violence à l'égard des femmes Equality and Human Dignity Department / Service de l'Egalité et de la Dignité humaine

Ms Johanna NELLES Administrator / Administrateur

Ms Christina OLSEN Administrator / Administratrice

Ms Cigdem KAYA Administrator / Administratrice

Ms Irida VARFI-BOEHRER Administrative Assistant / Assistante administrative

Ms Nadia BOLLENDER Project Assistant / Assistante de projet

INTERPRETERS / INTERPRÈTES

Ms Katia DI STEFANO Ms Rebecca BOWEN Ms Isabelle MARCHINI